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of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, 
     Respondents 

: 
: 
: 
: 
 

 

NOTICE TO DEFEND 

You have been sued in court.  If you wish to defend against the claims set forth in 
the following pages, you must take action within thirty (30) days after this complaint 
and notice are served, by entering a written appearance personally or by attorney and 
filing in writing with the court your defenses or objections to the claims set forth 
against you.  You are warned that if you fail to do so the case may proceed without 
you and a judgment may be entered against you by the court without further notice 
for any money claimed in the complaint or for any other claim or relief requested by 
the plaintiff.  You may lose money or property or other rights important you. 

YOU SHOULD TAKE THIS PAPER TO YOUR LAWYER AT ONCE.  IF YOU 
DO NOT HAVE A LAWYER, GO TO OR TELEPHONE THE OFFICE SET 
FORTH BELOW.  THIS OFFICE CAN PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION 
ABOUT HIRING A LAWYER. 

IF YOU CANNOT AFFORD TO HIRE A LAWYER, THIS OFFICE MAYBE BE 
ABLE TO PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION ABOUT AGENCIES THAT 
MAY OFFER LEGAL SERVICES TO ELIGIBLE PERSONS AT A REDUCED 
FEE OR NO FEE. 

Pennsylvania Bar Association 
Lawyer Referral Service 
100 South Street 
PA Box 166 
Harrisburg, PA 17108 
1-800-692-7375 
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DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION; 
and TIMOTHY A. REESE, Treasurer 
of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, 
     Respondents 

: 
: 
: 
 

 

Petition for Review 

AND NOW, Petitioner, the Pennsylvania School Boards Association, Inc., 

(“PSBA”) by and through its undersigned counsel, the LEVIN LEGAL GROUP, 

P.C., hereby files this Petition for Review in the nature of a Complaint in the Court’s 

original jurisdiction for declaratory, mandamus and injunctive relief against 

Respondents, Thomas Westerman Wolf, Governor of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania; (“Wolf” or “the Governor”); the General Assembly of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“the General Assembly”); the Senate of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“the Senate”); the House of Representatives of the 

Commonwealth (“the House”); the Pennsylvania Department of Education (“PDE”) 

and Pennsylvania Secretary of Education, Pedro A. Rivera (“Rivera” or “the 

Secretary”); and Timothy A. Reese, Treasurer of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania (“Reese” or “the Treasurer”)(collectively “the Respondents”), and in 

support thereof states the following: 

Jurisdiction and Related Matters 

1. The Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 

761(a)(1), which provides that the Court “shall have original jurisdiction of all civil 
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actions or proceedings…against the Commonwealth government, including any 

officer thereof, acting in his official capacity.”  None of the exceptions enumerated 

in 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 761(a)(1) apply to this action.   

2. The Declaratory Judgments Act, 42 Pa. C.S.A. §7531, et seq., permits 

adjudication of an actual controversy between parties that is manifest or that is 

unavoidable in the immediate future.  

3. At bar, an actual, ripe controversy exists between the Petitioner and 

Respondents.  

4. This actual, ripe controversy arises from the Respondents refusal and 

failure to pay state and federal funds to public school districts as required by law, 

including members of the PSBA, all as detailed more fully hereinafter, and whether 

any of the Respondents are liable to Pennsylvania’s school districts for the losses 

and damages they sustained as a result of the Respondents’ acts and omissions as 

more fully stated hereinafter. 

5. Given the state of affairs as alleged herein, an Order providing 

declaratory relief for the Petitioner is necessary and appropriate because 

Respondents’ refusal to provide state and/or federal funding in accordance with law 

is and has been in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment, the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, and Article 
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III, Section 14, of the Pennsylvania Constitution, all as alleged more fully 

hereinafter.    

6. The claims made hereafter under the Equal Protection Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment and the Supremacy Clause are brought in accordance with 

Section 1983, which provides, in relevant part: 

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, 
custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, 
subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or 
other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any 
rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, 
shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or 
other proper proceeding for redress . . ...   
 

42 USCA § 1983. 
 
7. The claims made hereafter under the Equal Protection Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment and the Supremacy Clause are also brought in accordance 

with Section 1988(b), which provides, in relevant part: 

In any action or proceeding to enforce a provision of sections . . ., 1983, 
. . ., the court, in its discretion, may allow the prevailing party, other 
than the United States, a reasonable attorney's fee as part of the costs, 
except that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or 
omission taken in such officer's judicial capacity such officer shall not 
be held liable for any costs, including attorney's fees, unless such action 
was clearly in excess of such officer's jurisdiction.  

42 USCA § 1988(b). 

 

Parties 
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8. The Petitioner, the Pennsylvania School Boards Association, Inc., 

(“PSBA”) is a nonprofit corporation of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with its 

principal offices located at 400 Bent Creek Blvd., Mechanicsburg, PA 17050.  

9. PSBA is a membership organization representing the interests of public 

school districts and their boards of school directors. 

10. PSBA is a voluntary non-profit association whose membership includes 

nearly all of the 500 local school districts and 29 intermediate units of this 

Commonwealth, numerous area vocational and technical schools and community 

colleges, and the members of the governing boards of those public school entities.   

11. PSBA has as its function the rendering of assistance to public school 

entities in Pennsylvania and the representation of the general public interest in the 

field of public education.  

12. The Bylaws of the PSBA provide that PSBA’s purposes include: 

SECTION 1. To provide a medium for school boards, school 
directors, school board secretaries and business managers, and other 
related groups to come together and exchange information and 
views concerning the administration of the commonwealth’s public 
schools, including postsecondary schools when such institutions are 
operated as a part of the public school system.  
 
SECTION 2. To secure united cooperation in handling school board 
problems and to endeavor to bring about improvement of the public 
schools at all levels by cooperation with other educational and 
professional agencies, including, but not limited to, other state 
associations of school boards and the National School Boards 
Association.  
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SECTION 3. To consider and, whenever deemed advisable, take 
such action as seems most desirable on matters relating to education 
and school administration, whether initiated by this Association, by 
the General Assembly, by state agencies, or by private individuals, 
associations or groups.  
 
SECTION 4. To promote greater activity and higher efficiency on 
the part of all school boards in order to secure the best results in the 
progressive advancement, control and conduct of the public schools 
of the commonwealth. 
 
SECTION 5. To render assistance and advice to school boards and 
to members of school boards on school matters affecting them.  
 

13. PSBA files this action as the representative of member public school 

districts who have suffered and will continue to suffer damages and injury as stated 

hereinafter.  Consequently, PSBA has standing to file and prosecute this case in 

accordance with holdings in cases such as   Pennsylvania School Boards 

Association, Inc. v. Com., Association of School Administrators, Teamsters Local 

502, 696 A.2d 859, 868 (Pa.Cmwlth.1997), appeal dismissed, 550 Pa. 228, 704 A.2d 

631 (1998) (citing Pennsylvania Gamefowl Breeders Association v. Commonwealth, 

533 A.2d 838, 840 (Pa.Cmwlth.1987), reaff'd after reconsideration, 538 A.2d 645 

(Pa.Cmwlth.1988)); See also, Pennsylvania School Boards Ass'n, Inc. v. Barnes, 885 

A.2d 97, 103 (Pa.Cmwlth.,2005). 

14. The filing of this action by the PSBA is in accordance with its purposes 

to take action on matters related to education and school administration and to render 

assistance to members of the Association.   
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15. The Respondent, Thomas Westerman Wolf (“Wolf” or “the 

Governor”), is Governor of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, with his principal 

offices located at 225 Capitol Building, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, 17120.  The 

Governor is named herein in his official capacity only 

16. The Respondent, General Assembly of the Commonwealth (“General 

Assembly”), is the legislative branch of government of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania and has certain constitutional duties, including the duty to provide for 

a thorough and efficient system of public education.  See, Article III, §14, of the 

Pennsylvania Constitution. 

17. The Respondent, Senate of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“the 

Senate”), is one of the houses of the General Assembly, with its principal offices 

located at 200 Main Capitol Building,  Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17120 

18. The Respondent, House of Representatives of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania (“the House”) is the second house of the General Assembly, with its 

principal offices located at Room 139, Main Capitol Building, Harrisburg, 

Pennsylvania, 17120. 

19. In accordance with Article II, Section 1, of the Constitution of 

Pennsylvania, the legislative power of the Commonwealth is vested in the General 

Assembly, which consists of the Senate and the House. 
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20. The Respondent, Timothy A. Reese (“Reese” or “the Treasurer”), is the 

Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  As Treasurer, Reese serves as 

Chief Executive of the Treasury Department and oversees an operating budget of 

$40 million and a staff of approximately 325 employees. His powers and duties 

involve the receipt and disbursement of funds, as well as the deposit, investment, 

and safekeeping of monies and securities belonging to the Commonwealth.  Reese 

is named in his official capacity only.  His principal offices are located at 129 

Finance Building, Harrisburg, PA 17120.  

21. The Treasurer serves as custodian of the funds of virtually all State 

agencies, including the funds that are to be distributed to public school districts. He 

has the duty to make payments to public school districts, including members of the 

PSBA in accordance with applicable law. 

22. The Respondent, Pedro A. Rivera (“Rivera” or “the Secretary”), is the 

Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with his principal 

offices located at 333 Market Street, Harrisburg, PA, 17126.  He is being named in 

this action in his official capacity.   

23. The Secretary is the highest ranking employee and official of the 

Respondent Pennsylvania Department of Education and has certain statutory, 

regulatory and other duties to ensure that the Pennsylvania Department of Education 

acts in accordance with applicable law. 
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24. The Respondent, Pennsylvania Department of Education (“PDE”), is 

an administrative department of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with its 

principal offices located at 333 Market Street, Harrisburg, PA, 17126. 

Background 

The 2015-2016 Budget Impasse 

25. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“the Commonwealth”) has not 

had a state budget since June 30, 2015; and, as of the date of filing this Petition for 

Review on Friday, January 8, 2016, a complete state budget for 2015-2016 has not 

been enacted and signed into law.  Instead, on December 29, 2015, the Governor 

partially approved a budget bill enacted by the General Assembly.  I true and correct 

copy of the Governor’s description of what was approved and what was vetoed is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

26. As a result of not having a State Budget, with very little exception, 

through December, 2015, no federal or state funds that are or were supposed to have 

been distributed to public school districts, including members of the PSBA, have 

been distributed.   

27. According to the Governor’s budget actions as reflected on Exhibit 

“A”, payments owed to school districts through December, 2015, but not beyond, 

are to be made.   
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28. Due to the general lack of state and federal funding through December, 

2015, it had been reported that a number of public school districts would not have 

the funds to operate as soon as January or February, 2016, and would cease 

operations, causing all of the harm and injury to students and the population that 

occurs from the closure of public school systems.  It had also been reported that more 

school districts will follow after February, 2016, in ceasing operations.   

29. It is believed and therefore averred that it was because of these reports 

that it was announced by the Governor that emergency funding would be provided.     

30. It is unknown if the emergency funding announced by the Governor 

will forestall the closing of any school districts and members of the PSBA. 

31. The lack of state and federal funding through this point in time has 

already caused school districts injury as described hereinafter, included in the 

following ways: 

a. A number of public school entities, including members of the 

PSBA, are and have been incurring debt at unnecessary cost and expense for interest 

and transactional fees due to the failure of the Commonwealth to make state and 

federal funds available to public school entities. 

b. A number of school districts, including members of the PSBA, 

are delaying the payment, in whole or in part, of vendors.  
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c. A number of school districts have reduced and or stopped 

payments to charter schools. 

d. A number of school districts have stopped payments to the Public 

School Employee Retirement System (“PSERS”). 

e. Budgets were adopted by public school entities, including 

members of the PSBA, with the anticipation that they would have investment 

income.   

f. The investment income is a necessary component to adopt a 

balanced budget as required by law. 

g. However, because of the Commonwealth’s refusal or failure to 

distribute state and federal funding to public school entities, including members of 

the PSBA, public school entities are losing investment income that would otherwise 

accrue and that are necessary to secure balanced budgets. 

32. On information and belief, it is alleged that the Commonwealth has the 

funds on hand to make all payments required by state and federal law to public 

school districts. 

School District Funding in General 

33. School districts generally have three sources of revenues: (a) local 

taxes; (b) state subsidies or reimbursements; and (c) federal funding. 
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34. The statutory provisions for state subsidies and reimbursements are 

largely found in Chapter 25 of the School Code.  See, 24 P.S. §§25-2501 et seq.  

Chapter 25 of the School Code describes most of the types of subsidies and 

reimbursements which are to be paid to public school districts and generally states 

the times for the payments. 

35. For example, section 2517(c) of the School Code provides as follows 

with regard to the timing of payment of state funds to school districts: 

For the 1991-1992 school year and every school year thereafter, the 
amount apportioned and allotted to each school district shall be divided 
into six payments and the Secretary of Education shall draw his 
requisition six times upon the State Treasurer in favor of each district 
for the amount to which it is entitled. The first five payments shall be 
estimates based on but not to exceed fifteen percent (15%) each of the 
total net amount apportioned and allocated to the school district for the 
payment year. The final payment shall be the balance of the 
apportionment due for the applicable school year. Payment thereof 

shall be made to all school districts on the last Thursday of August, 

October, December, February and April and the first day of June.   
 
24 P.S. §25-2517(c)(Emphasis added). 

 
36. Despite the Secretary’s ministerial duty to “draw his requisition” upon 

the Treasurer so that payments can be made to school districts on the last Thursday 

of August, October and December, and the Treasurer’s ministerial duty to make said 

payments to school districts, either Respondent Secretary or Respondent Treasurer, 

or both, failed or refused to perform these ministerial acts.  
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37. According to the Governor’s communication to the House of 

Representatives attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, there are no plans to pay the money 

due to school districts in February, April and June.  

Federal Non-Supplant and Maintenance of Effort Requirements 

38. A number of federal funding statutes contain requirements on states and 

school district with regard to “nonsupplant requirements” and “maintenance of 

efforts” requirements.   

39. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), each 

state, including Pennsylvania, that receives a grant must distribute any funds to 

LEAs under 20 U.S.C.A. § 1411(f).   

40. Furthermore, section 619 of Part B of the IDEA requires the distribution 

of preschool grants to local educational agencies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 1419(g). 

41. IDEA provides that such funds will be used to supplement federal, state, 

and local funds and to not supplant such federal, state, and local funds.  More 

specially, IDEA states: 

Except as provided in section 1413 of this title, funds paid to a State 
under this subchapter will be used to supplement the level of Federal, 
State, and local funds (including funds that are not under the direct 
control of State or local educational agencies) expended for special 
education and related services provided to children with disabilities 
under this subchapter and in no case to supplant such Federal, State, 
and local funds, except that, where the State provides clear and 
convincing evidence that all children with disabilities have available to 
them a free appropriate public education, the Secretary may waive, in 
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whole or in part, the requirements of this subparagraph if the Secretary 
concurs with the evidence provided by the State. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. §1412(a)(17)(C). 
 

42. IDEA Part B prohibits a State from reducing State financial support for 

special education and related services below the amount of that support made 

available by the State the preceding fiscal year.  More specially, it provides: 

The State does not reduce the amount of State financial support for 
special education and related services for children with disabilities, or 
otherwise made available because of the excess costs of educating those 
children, below the amount of that support for the preceding fiscal year. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 1412(a)(18)  

43. The Elementary and Secondary Education Act (“ESEA”), requires school 

districts to maintain fiscal efforts in accordance with applicable law. More 

specifically, the ESEA provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

A local educational agency may receive funds under a covered program 
for any fiscal year only if the State educational agency finds that either 
the combined fiscal effort per student or the aggregate expenditures of 
the agency and the State with respect to the provision of free public 
education by the agency for the preceding fiscal year was not less than 
90 percent of the combined fiscal effort or aggregate expenditures for 
the second preceding fiscal year. 
 
(b) Reduction in case of failure to meet 

(1) In general 

The State educational agency shall reduce the amount of the allocation 
of funds under a covered program in any fiscal year in the exact 
proportion by which a local educational agency fails to meet the 
requirement of subsection (a) of this section by falling below 90 percent 



17 
 

of both the combined fiscal effort per student and aggregate 
expenditures (using the measure most favorable to the local agency). 

 
20 .S.C.A. § 7901. 

44.  ESEA defines “covered program” quite broadly and as encompassing 

may funding programs, as follows: (a) Title I, Part A; (b) Title I, Part D, Programs 

for Children and Youth who are Neglected, Delinquent, or At-Risk; (c) Title II, Part 

A, Improving Teacher Quality State Grants; (d) Title II, Part D, Educational 

Technology State Grants; (e) Title III, Part A, English Acquisition State Grants; (f) 

Title IV, Part B, 21st Century Learning Centers; and (g) Title VI, Part B, Subpart 2, 

Rural Education, among others  

45. Furthermore, the Regulations provide, in pertinent part, the following: 

§ 299.5 What maintenance of effort requirements apply to ESEA 
programs? 
 
(a) General. An LEA receiving funds under an applicable program 

listed in paragraph (b) of this section may receive its full allocation 
of funds only if the SEA finds that either the combined fiscal effort 
per student or the aggregate expenditures of State and local funds 
with respect to the provision of free public education in the LEA 
for the preceding fiscal year was not less than 90 percent of the 
combined fiscal effort per student or the aggregate expenditures for 
the second preceding fiscal year. 

 
34 CFR § 299.5(a), (b). 

 
46. Section 1120A(b) of ESEA requires that states, including Pennsylvania, 

and local educational agencies use federal funds received under Title I only to 
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supplement the amount of funds available from non-federal sources for the education 

of students participation in Title I.  More specifically, section 1120A(b) provides: 

A State educational agency or local educational agency shall use 
Federal funds received under this part only to supplement the funds that 
would, in the absence of such Federal funds, be made available from 
non-Federal sources for the education of pupils participating in 
programs assisted under this part, and not to supplant such funds. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 6321(b)(1).   

47. Part D of Title I of ESEA requires that states, including Pennsylvania, 

and local educational agencies use federal funds received under Part D of Title I only 

to supplement the amount of funds available from non-federal sources.  More 

specifically, Part D of Title I provides: 

A program under this subpart that supplements the number of hours of 
instruction students receive from State and local sources shall be 
considered to comply with the supplement, not supplant requirement of 
section 6321 of this title (as applied to this part) without regard to the 
subject areas in which instruction is given during those hours. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 6435(b). 

48. With respect to the maintenance of effort requirement, Part D of Title I 

of ESEA is a “covered program,” and thus, the maintenance of effort requirement 

applies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 7801(13). 

49. Part A of Title II of the ESEA provides that states that receive 

Improving Teacher Quality State Grants must distribute subgrants to local 

educational agencies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 6621(a)(1). 
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50. Part A of Title II of ESEA requires that funds received under Part A of 

Title II only be used to supplement the amount of funds available from non-federal 

sources.  More specifically, Part A of Title II provides: 

Funds received under this subpart shall be used to supplement, and not 
supplant, non-Federal funds that would otherwise be used for activities 
authorized under this subpart. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 6613(f). 

 
51. With respect to the maintenance of effort requirement, Part A of Title 

II of ESEA is a “covered program,” and thus, the maintenance of effort requirement 

applies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 7801(13)(F). 

52. Part B of Title II of ESEA enables states that receive grants for 

mathematics and science partnerships to award subgrants to eligible partnerships, 

which includes local educational agencies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 6662(a)(2)(A)(ii). 

53. Part B of Title II of ESEA requires that funds received under Part B of 

Title II only be used to supplement the amount of funds that would otherwise be 

used for activities authorized under this part.  More specifically, Part B of Title II of 

ESEA provides, in pertinent part: 

Funds received under this part shall be used to supplement, and not 
supplant, funds that would otherwise be used for activities authorized 
under this part.  

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 6662(a). 
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54. Part D of Title II of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, provides that 

states that receive state and local technology grants must distribute subgrants to local 

educational agencies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 6762(a). 

55. Part D of Title II of ESEA requires that state applications for state and 

local technology grants provide “[a]n assurance that financial assistance provided 

under this subpart will supplement, and not supplant, State and local funds.”  20 

U.S.C.A. § 6763(b)(6). 

56. With respect to the maintenance of effort requirement, Part D of Title 

II of ESEA is a “covered program,” and thus, the maintenance of effort requirement 

applies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 7801(13)(G). 

57. Part B of Title IV of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, authorizes 

grants to States, including Pennsylvania, to enable communities to establish or 

expand activities in community learning centers, 20 U.S.C.A. § 7171(a), and 

requires that each state reserve no less than 95 percent of the amount allotted to such 

state for awards to eligible entities, including local educational agencies.  20 

U.S.C.A. §§ 7171(b)(3), 7172(c)(1). 

58. Part B of Title IV of ESEA also requires that state applications for 

grants under this part contain “an assurance that funds appropriated to carry out this 

part will be used to supplement, and not supplant, other Federal, State, and local 
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public funds expended to provide programs and activities authorized under this part 

and other similar programs.”  20 U.S.C.A. § 7173(a)(9)  

59. With respect to the maintenance of effort requirement, Part B of Title 

IV of ESEA is a “covered program,” and thus, the maintenance of effort requirement 

applies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 7801(13)(J). 

60. Title III of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, authorizes English 

Language Acquisition State Grants and requires that states agree to expend at least 

95 percent of the state’s allotment to award subgrants to eligible entities, including 

local educational agencies.  20 U.S.C.A. §§ 6821(b)(1), 6871.   

61. Title III of ESEA requires that federal funds made available under this 

subpart must be used to supplement the level of federal, state, and local public funds 

that would have been expended.  More specifically, Title III of ESEA provides: 

Federal funds made available under this subpart shall be used so as to 
supplement the level of Federal, State, and local public funds that, in 
the absence of such availability, would have been expended for 
programs for limited English proficient children and immigrant 
children and youth and in no case to supplant such Federal, State, and 
local public funds.   

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 6825(g). 

 
62. With respect to the maintenance of effort requirement, Title III of 

ESEA is a “covered program,” and thus, the maintenance of effort requirement 

applies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 7801(13)(H). 
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63. With respect Section 131 of Title I of the Carl D. Perkins Vocational-

Technical Education Improvement Act of 2006, requires states to distribute a portion 

of funds for vocational-technical education programs to local educational agencies.  

20 U.S.C.A. § 2351(a). 

64. The Carl D. Perkins Vocational-Technical Education Improvement Act 

(the “Act”) requires that federal funds made available must be used to supplement 

non-federal funds expended to carry our career and technical education activities.  

More specifically, the Act provides: 

Funds made available under this chapter for career and technical education 
activities shall supplement, and shall not supplant, non-Federal funds 
expended to carry out career and technical education activities and tech prep 
program activities.   

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 2391(a).   
 

65. The Act also has a maintenance of effort requirement, which provides, 

in pertinent part: 

Except as provided in subparagraphs (B) and (C), no payments shall be 
made under this chapter for any fiscal year to a State for career and 
technical education programs or tech prep programs unless the 
Secretary determines that the fiscal effort per student or the aggregate 
expenditures of such State for career and technical education programs 
for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year for which the determination 
is made, equaled or exceeded such effort or expenditures for career and 
technical education programs for the second fiscal year preceding the 
fiscal year for which the determination is made.   

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 2391(b). 

 



23 
 

Services Provided by School Districts 

66. Public school district provide essential governmental services, all as 

more fully described hereinafter, which go to the heart of the health, safety, and 

protection of Pennsylvanians.  

67. In addition to the educational services that are provided to 

Pennsylvania’s students, school districts across the Commonwealth provide 

numerous other services of fundamental importance to the health, safety, and 

protection of Pennsylvanians, including the following: 

a. School districts provide before and after school programs that are 

serve a variety of vitally important functions for children and their families, 

including child care services for parents and guardians who are employed; 

b. Many students are unable to obtain complete diets without the 

food service programs offered to students; 

c. Many students have disabilities that require such services as 

occupational therapy, physical therapy, and others that may be essential to the health 

and well-being of the students; 

d. Many disabled students are entitled to educational programming 

with minimal or no interruptions (sometimes referred to as “year round” education) 

because the disruption may cause educational regression; 
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e. Hundreds of thousands of Pennsylvanians are employed by 

public school districts and even the temporary loss of income from layoff or furlough 

will cause grave and grievous harm. 

 

Count I—Violation of Equal Protection 

68.  All prior paragraphs hereof are incorporated herein by this reference 

as if fully set forth herein. 

69. The failure and refusal of the Respondents Governor, Treasurer and 

Secretary of Education to provide full funding to school districts while funding other 

aspects of government is a violation of Equal Protection. 

70. Article III, Section 24, of the Pennsylvania Constitution provides that: 

“No money shall be paid out of the treasury, except on appropriations made by law 

and on warrant issued by the proper officers; but cash refunds of taxes, licenses, fees 

and other charges paid or collected, but not legally due, may be paid, as provided by 

law, without appropriation from the fund into which they were paid on warrant of 

the proper officer.” Art. III, § 24. 

71. In a December 3, 2015, a report by three Pennsylvania legislators, a 

copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”, (“the December 3 Report”) it was 

reported that: “[s]ince July 1, 2015, while Pennsylvania has been without a state 
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budget, the Wolf Administration has spent over $30.4 billion.”  (December 3 Report, 

p. 2) 

72. The Commonwealth has acted arbitrarily and in violation of the Equal 

Protection Clause by failing to apply rational distinctions in determining which 

expenditures to make and which expenditures to withhold despite the absence of a 

state budget.  Indeed, the state government has continued to operate essentially 

unimpeded by the lack of a budget.   

73. According to the December 3 Report, “The Wolf Administration is 

routinely circumventing, waiving and ignoring the fiscal control powers held by the 

General Assembly.” (December 3 Report, p. 3)  

74. The Commonwealth has posted on its website the information 

contained in Exhibit “C”, (“the Website Posting”) pertaining to how the budget 

impasse will affect governmental programs. 

75.  The Commonwealth claimed in the Website Posting, inter alia: that 

“[m]any Commonwealth expenditures cannot be made without an approved budget 

and will be delayed until that occurs.” 

76. The Commonwealth declared in the Website Posting that: “[t]he 

Commonwealth will continue to make payments and continue operations [a] in all 

areas that affect the health, safety, and protection of Pennsylvanians or [b] as 
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required under Federal Law, state court decisions or the Pennsylvania 

Constitution . . ..” (emphasis added) 

77. The Commonwealth announced in its Website Posting that it will 

continue funding the following programs or functions: 

a. Public benefit programs administered by the state, including 

unemployment compensation, cash assistance, support for Women, Infants and 

Children (WIC); 

b. Health care services paid for through Medical Assistance, for 

hospitals, other healthcare providers and nursing homes, and transportation to 

medical appointments through the Medical Assistance Transportation Program 

(MATP); 

c. Child care subsidy payments; 

d. Home and community based services, including attendant care, 

for seniors and people with disabilities; 

e. Prescription drug coverage under the PACE program; 

f. Pension programs for Blind and Paralyzed Veterans; 

g. Medicare Part A and B premium payments; 

h. Early intervention, autism and intellectual disability services; 

i. State Workers' Insurance Fund payments; 
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j. Commonwealth employee payroll, including pension 

contributions; and 

k. Prize payments to Pennsylvania Lottery winners. 

78. Confirming that the foregoing was essentially the only official 

statement of what was being paid and funded by the Commonwealth at the time 

despite the budget impasse, the legislators in the December 3 Report said:  “[a]side 

from the Governor announcing “programs that affect the health, safety, and 

protection of Pennsylvanians or as required under Federal Law, state court decisions 

or the Pennsylvania Constitution,” there has been no clearly stated policy on what 

reimbursements or expenses the Wolf Administration will pay during the budget 

impasse.”  (December 3 Report, p. 5).  

79. Notwithstanding the Commonwealth’s declarations in the Website 

Posting and the Governor’s announcements as described in the December 3 Report, 

it is believed and therefore averred that the Commonwealth and Respondents 

Governor, Treasurer and Secretary were not restricting payments only to “areas that 

affect the health, safety, and protection of Pennsylvanians” or “as required under 

Federal Law, state court decisions or the Pennsylvania Constitution.”  

80. The Commonwealth has been paying all of its employees in each 

branch of government in contradiction of the pronouncements it made in the Website 

Posting and without consideration of whether the services of such employees impact 
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upon the health, safety or protection of Pennsylvanians or are required by law or 

court decisions. 

81. In an effort to purport to find legal support for the continued operation 

of state government, Commonwealth attorneys have issued legal opinions that 

effectively give a carte blanche to the Treasurer and other state officials to determine 

what will be funded and what will not be funded during the budget impasse.  

82. Counsel for the Treasurer issued at least two legal justifications for 

continuing to employ and pay certain state employees. 

83. On or about September 9, 2015, Chief Counsel for Treasury, 

Christopher Craig, (“Craig”) issued a memorandum to the Treasurer, a copy of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit “D”, (“the September 9 Memo”) regarding 

“[l]egislative salary payment during budgetary impasse.” 

84. On or about October 14, 2015, Craig issued a memorandum to the 

Treasurer, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “E”, (“the October 14 

Memo”) regarding “the legal basis upon which Pennsylvania Treasury may approve 

the issuance of a warrant for the expenditure of public funds for the payment of 

critical and necessary expenses of the General Assembly during a budgetary 

impasse.” (October 14 Memo, p. 1) 
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85. According to Craig’s September 9 Memo, “the Fiscal Code permits the 

Treasurer to exercise independent judgment when considering the legality of an 

expenditure requisition.”  (Emphasis added). 

86. Craig stated in his September 9 Memo that the Pennsylvania Supreme 

Court “determined that terms of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act requiring the 

payment of public employees superseded state constitutional prohibition against the 

expenditure of public funds without an appropriation.” 

87. Craig stated in his September 9 Memo that “[s]ince July 1, 2015, 

Treasury has authorized the payment of all judicial and executive branch salaries 

and benefits.”  (Emphasis added) 

88. Explaining the rationale that supports the Treasurer’s decision to pay 

all state employees, Craig said in the September 9 Memo: 

The most essential function of government is the preservation of public 
health, safety and welfare. Commonwealth v. Mikulan, 504 Pa. 244, 470 
A.2d 1339 (1983); Adams Sanitation Co v. Dep't of Environmental 

Protection, 552 Pa. 304, 715 A.2d 390 (1998). This critical 
responsibility necessarily includes "the inherent power of a body politic 
to enact and enforce laws for the promotion of the general welfare .... " 
National Wood Preservers, Inc. v. Department of Environmental 

Resources, 489 Pa. 221, 231, 414 A.2d 37, 41 (1980). As a 
consequence, Pennsylvania citizens have an inherent and constitutional 
right to a working and functional government. See Pa. Const. art. I, § I. 
The failure to ensure the ability of each branch of government to 
perform the most basic, critical and essential governmental services 
places in jeopardy the constitutional right of each citizen to have a 
functional government able to ensure the public health, safety and 
welfare of the Commonwealth.   
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(September 9 Memo, p.3). 
 
89. Attempting to reconcile the practical need for the continued operation 

of state government with the unambiguous prohibition contained in Article III, 

Section 24 of the Constitution, Craig said in his September 9 Memo: “[s]trict 

adherence to Article III, Section 24's prohibition against the expenditure of public 

funds without an appropriation would effectively eliminate all payments for critical 

and essential governmental services and thereby jeopardize the health, safety and 

welfare of the Commonwealth.”  (September 9 Memo, p. 3) 

90. In the October 14 Memo, Craig concluded that the Treasurer has 

discretion in deciding whether to make any particular payment, saying: “there exists 

sufficient legal justification for the Treasurer to conclude, in his discretion, that the 

payment of such expenses is lawful and correct.” (October 14 Memo, p. 1) 

91. As part of his rationale why payments can be made for legislative 

expenditures despite the lack of a state budget, Craig relied upon constitutional and 

statutory obligations or duties, saying: “[i]n addition, without such critical services, 

the legislature would be unable to comply with certain statutory and constitutional 

mandates - including Sunshine Act, Right to Know Law, and ensure public access 

to the legislative process.” (October 14 Memo, p. 4). 

92. The existence and operation of school districts are also grounded upon 

both constitutional and statutory mandates. 
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93. Craig recognized that payment for the support of other branches of 

government compelled the requirement for payment to support the legislature, 

saying: “[e]ven temporarily, the failure to fund the basic function of a constitutional 

branch of government represents a constitutional infringement. Without the inherent 

ability to pay necessary and critical operational expenses, particularly when each of 

the other branches of government has retained their ability to pay similar expenses 

in the absence of an appropriation, the legislature's ability to perform its core 

function becomes unconstitutionality abridged.” (October 14 Memo, p. 5). 

94. Essentially the same justification as stated in the preceding allegation 

applies to the need to provide funding to school districts. 

95. Craig was careful to point out, however, that not all legislative 

expenditures could be approved—only those that were both “critical and necessary.”  

Craig said: 

It is worth noting that in the absence of an appropriation, the Treasurer's 
authority to approve the issuance of a warrant for the payment of 
operational expenses of the legislature is limited to those expenses that 
are ‘critical and necessary’ for its continued operation. Those expenses 
that are not critical, but may be deferred without jeopardizing the ability 
of the General Assembly to perform it basic operations, cannot be 
approved in the absence of a corresponding appropriation. The 

determination as to which expenses are, or are not, "critical and 

necessary" is within the sole discretion of the Treasurer. 72 P.S. §§ 

307, 1502.”  
 
(October 14 Memo, p. 5)(Emphasis added). 
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96. Despite stating that not all legislative expenditures would be approved 

during the budget impasse, upon information and belief, it is averred that all 

expenditures have been approved by the Respondents Governor, Treasurer or the 

Secretary without undertaking any analysis to determine which were and were not 

“critical and necessary.” 

97. Consequently, based on the acts and statements on the 

Commonwealth’s website as referenced above, the policy, practice and custom of 

the Commonwealth, the Governor, the General Assembly and the state Treasurer is 

to make payments notwithstanding Article III, Section 24 of the Constitution and the 

lack of a state budget, if: 

a. The expenditure is for a “necessary and critical” function of 

government; 

b. The expenditure is for the support of an “essential function” of 

government; 

c. The expenditure is for the support of a governmental function 

that is rooted in constitutional and statutory requirements; or 

d. The expenditure is necessary to protect the health, safety and 

welfare of Pennsylvanians. 

98. Based upon the facts alleged previously as to how money is being spent 

by state government in the absence of a budget, it is also the policy, practice and 
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custom of the General Assembly, the Treasurer and other officials of the 

Commonwealth to apply very loose standards to the foregoing concepts of what is 

critical and necessary and what is necessary to protect the health, safety and welfare 

of Pennsylvanian and what will be funded. 

99. Despite the fact that public school education provided by Pennsylvania 

school districts and members of PSBA is a critical, essential and constitutionally 

required function, the Respondents have not been applying the same standards to 

fund school districts, causing the injury and damages to school districts, including 

PSBA’s members, as described herein. 

100. It is believed and therefore averred that the continuity of public 

education is as important to the health, safety and welfare of the Commonwealth as 

many of the other governmental programs and services that are being funded by the 

Commonwealth despite the budget impasse. 

101. The United States Supreme Court has recognized the “undisputed 

importance of education.”  San Antonio Independent School Dist. v. Rodriguez, 93 

S. Ct. 1278, 1297, 411 U.S. 1, 35 (1973). 

102. Pennsylvania’s courts have recognized that: “[t]he Constitution of 

Pennsylvania ... not only recognizes that the cause of education is one of the distinct 

obligations of the state, but makes of it an indispensable governmental function.” 

Malone v. Hayden, 329 Pa. 213, 223, 197 A. 344, 352 (1938).” (emphasis added)  
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See also, Zager v. Chester Community Charter School, 594 Pa. 166, 173, 934 A.2d 

1227, 1231(2007)(finding that public charter schools perform an essential 

government function). 

103. The United States District Court for the Western District of 

Pennsylvania recognized that public education is an essential government function, 

saying: “[t]he education of the children of a state is an essential governmental 

function. The furnishing of cafeterias which promotes the physical, moral, and 

educational welfare of the student body is an essential part thereof. This was the 

judgment of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the School District of the City 

of Pittsburgh.”  Gregg v. U.S., 22 F. Supp. 802, 804 (D.C.PA. 1938). 

104. Not only are public school districts and the members of the PSBA 

performing an essential public service, but they are acting as agents of the General 

Assembly in doing so.   

105. Pennsylvania’s courts have often reiterated that: “[t]he school system, 

or the school districts, then, are but agencies of the state Legislature to administer 

this constitutional duty.  Wilson v. School Dist. of Philadelphia, 328 Pa. 225, 231, 

195 A. 90, 94 (1937).  See, e.g. Barth v. School Dist. of Philadelphia, 393 Pa. 557, 

562, 143 A.2d 909, 911 (1958); Smith v. School Dist. of Darby Tp., 388 Pa. 301, 

311, 130 A.2d 661, 667 (1957). 
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106. Without a rational basis, the Commonwealth, including the 

Respondents, is treating public school entities differently than it is treating other 

agencies and governmental units performing essential government functions and, as 

a result, is acting in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment. 

107. Craig recognized that Commonwealth officials, including the 

Treasurer, must treat all similarly in the distribution of state funding or run afoul of 

the Equal Protection Clause, saying: 

[T]he Treasurer is constitutionally required to treat similarly situated 
individuals equally in the execution and administration of law, 
otherwise the Treasurer may personally be vulnerable to a federal equal 
protection claim as "selectively" enforcing the provisions of the Fiscal 
Code in a manner that unjustly discriminates against a group of 
individuals- in this case, employees of the General Assembly. See, e.g., 

Hafer v. Melo, 502 U.S. 21, 112 S. Ct. 358 (1991) (Supreme Court 
determined that the Pennsylvania Auditor General could be personally 
liable for wrongful termination of public employees.); Hooper v. 

Bernalillo County Assessor, 472 U.S. 612, 105 S.Ct. 2862 (1985) (If 
benefits are distributed unequally, the classification used by the 
governmental officer would be subject to judicial scrutiny.); Associates 

in Obstetrics & Gynecology v. Upper Marion Township, 2004 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 22098 (E.D. Pa. 2004) (Court found sufficient evidence to 
support equal protection claim of inconsistent treatment of business 
under township zoning code.).  

 
(September 9 Memo, p. 6) 

 
108. Consequently, the Respondents have ministerial, non-discretionary 

duties to take those actions necessary to distribute those funds to school district in 

accordance with the schedule established by state law. 
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WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that: 

a. The Court issue a declaratory judgment that Article III, Section 24 of the 

Constitution does not prohibit the Commonwealth from paying state and 

federal funds to public school entities, including members of the PSBA, 

during a budget impasse; 

b. The Court issue an injunction upon the Respondents Secretary of Education 

and Treasurer to take such action as is required to ensure that public school 

entities are paid all state and federal funds required under the School Code 

and applicable federal legislation; 

c. The Court issue a judgment in mandamus upon the Respondents Secretary of 

Education and Treasurer to take such action as is required to ensure that public 

school entities are paid all state and federal funds required under the School 

Code and applicable federal legislation; 

d. The Court impose a constructive trust upon the funds being held by the 

Commonwealth that should have been paid to school districts and upon the 

investment income earned by the Commonwealth with said funds; 

e. The Court award costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to the Petitioner 

in accordance with 42 U.S.C.A. §1988; 
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f. The Court award damages to school districts to compensate them for all 

interest and transactional costs and expenses incurred as a result of the 

Respondents’ failure to pay state and federal funds during the budget impasse;  

g. The Court award damages for the loss of investment income and the expenses 

and interest paid for borrowing made necessary by the Respondents’ acts and 

omissions in accordance with section 8303 of the Judicial Code, which 

provides: “A person who is adjudged in an action in the nature of mandamus 

to have failed or refused without lawful justification to perform a duty 

required by law shall be liable in damages to the person aggrieved by such 

failure or refusal.”42 Pa.C.S.A. §8303; and 

h. The Court grant such other relief as may be just under the circumstances. 

Count II—Violation of Federal Law—the Supremacy Clause 
 

109. All prior paragraphs hereof are incorporated herein by this reference as 

if fully set forth herein. 

110. Through December, 2015, and with limited, if any, exceptions, the 

Commonwealth has not been paying federal funds to public school entities , 

including members of the PSBA, who are entitled to said funds. 

111. It is believed and therefore averred that some federal funds may be 

withheld until the budget impasse is fully resolved. 
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112. It is believed and therefore averred that the reason for the 

Commonwealth’s past refusal and expected future refusal to pay over the federal 

funds as required by federal law is the Commonwealth’s misplaced application of 

the restrictions set forth in Article III, Section 24 of the Constitution. 

113. It is believed and therefore averred that the Respondents’ reliance on 

Article III, Section 24, is in error and misplaced for the following reasons. 

a. The refusal to fund public school entities and the members of 

PSBA is in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

as described above. 

b. Article VI, §2 of the United States Constitution provides for the 

supremacy of federal law over any contrary statutory or constitutional requirements 

of state law.  See Testa v. Katt, 330 U.S. 386 (1947); Knoll v. White, 141 Pa. Cmwlth. 

188, 595 A.2d 665 (1991). 

c. It is believed and therefore averred that the various federal laws 

providing for federal funding of public school entities pre-empt Article III, Section 

24, of the Pennsylvania Constitution.  

d. Consequently, Article III, Section 24 of the Pennsylvania 

Constitution is pre-empted by federal law and cannot form a basis for failing to pay 

federal funds to public school districts, even in the event of budget impasse. 
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e. The Commonwealth acknowledges that Article III, Section 24 of 

the Pennsylvania Constitution does not act as a complete bar to the Commonwealth’s 

payment of money for the continued operation of government programs, relying in 

part on a Pennsylvania Supreme Court decision ruling that the federal Fair Labor 

Standards Act (FLSA) preempts Article III, Section 24 to the extent it would prevent 

the payment of wages as required by the FLSA.  Indeed, the Commonwealth is fully 

funding the Respondent PDE and is paying other public educational programs 

according to its Website Posting, including “[e]arly intervention, autism and 

intellectual disability services.”  

f. However, on information and belief, it is alleged that the 

Respondents erroneously claim that the Commonwealth’s duty to provide for the 

health, safety and welfare of citizens of Pennsylvania necessitates that the 

Commonwealth not fund public school entities and withhold federal funds from 

public school entities, including members of the PSBA. 

g. Furthermore, nothing in any other Pennsylvania law, the 

Pennsylvania Constitution, or any federal law permits such a distinction between 

what can and cannot be funded. 

114. Attached hereto as Exhibit “F” is a true and correct copy of a listing of 

federal programs through which funds are provided to Pennsylvania’s public school 

districts.  
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115. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) provides that 

funds paid to states, including Pennsylvania, are to be paid as follows: “Each State 

that receives a grant under this section for any fiscal year shall distribute any funds 

. . . to local educational agencies (including public charter schools that operate as 

local educational agencies) in the State that have established their eligibility under 

section 1413 of this title for use in accordance with this subchapter.”  20 USCA § 

1411(f)(Emphasis added). 

116. Despite this clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute the 

special education funds to “local education agencies,” including PSBA’s members, 

the Commonwealth is was not been paying the required federal money to public 

school entities on a timely basis.  It is further believed and therefore averred that 

after some possible payments in January, 2016, the Respondents Governor, 

Treasurer and Secretary of Education do not intend to distribute federal funds again 

until a complete budget is signed into law. 

117. Part A of Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act 

(“ESEA”), as amended by the No Child Left Behind law (“NCLB”), provides, in 

part, that funds for improving basic programs operated by local educational 

agencies, including school districts, that are paid to states, including Pennsylvania, 

are to be paid as follows:. 

For any fiscal year to which this paragraph applies, the Secretary shall 
calculate grants under this section on the basis of the number of children 
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counted under subsection (c) of this section for counties, and State 

educational agencies shall suballocate county amounts to local 

educational agencies, in accordance with regulations issued by the 
Secretary. 
 

20 U.S.C.A. § 6333(a)(3) (Emphasis added). 

118. Despite this clear mandate, the Respondents have not been distributing 

the funds made available to “local educational agencies,” including members of 

PSBA, to the school districts, on  a timely basis. 

119. Section 1003(g) of Title I of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, 

authorizes School Improvement Grants (SIG) to states, including Pennsylvania, to 

enable states to provide subgrants to local educational agencies for the purpose of 

providing assistance for school improvement and provides, in pertinent part, that  

A State educational agency that receives a grant under this subsection 

shall allocate at least 95 percent of the grant funds directly to local 

educational agencies for schools identified for school improvement, 
corrective action, or restructuring to carry out activities under section 
6316(b) of this title, or may, with the approval of the local educational 
agency, directly provide for these activities or arrange for their 
provision through other entities such as school support teams or 
educational service agencies. 
 

20 U.S.C.A. § 6303(g)(7) (Emphasis added). 

120. Despite this clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute the SIG 

funds to “local educational agencies,” including PSBA’s members, the Respondents 

have not paying the required federal money to public school entities, on a timely 

basis. 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6316&originatingDoc=NF1AE5430B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)#co_pp_a83b000018c76
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6316&originatingDoc=NF1AE5430B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)#co_pp_a83b000018c76
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121. Part D of Title I of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, authorizes 

grants to states, including Pennsylvania, to enable states to award subgrants to local 

agencies to establish or improve programs of education for neglected, delinquent, or 

at-risk children and youth, 20 U.S.C.A. § 6421(d), and provides, in pertinent part, 

that  

[T]he State educational agency shall award subgrants to local 

educational agencies with high numbers or percentages of children and 
youth residing in locally operated (including county operated) 
correctional facilities for children and youth (including facilities 
involved in community day programs). 
 

20 U.S.C.A. § 6452(a)(Emphasis added). 

122. Despite this clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute grants for 

neglected, delinquent, or at-risk children and youth to “local educational agencies,” 

including PSBA’s members, the Respondents have not been paying the required 

federal money to school districts, on  a timely basis. 

123. Part A of Title II of the ESEA authorizes Improving Teacher Quality 

State Grants to states, including Pennsylvania and provides, in pertinent part, that: 

The Secretary may make a grant to a State under subpart 1 of this part 
only if the State educational agency agrees to distribute the funds 

described in this subsection as subgrants to local educational 

agencies under this subpart. 
 

20 U.S.C.A. § 6621(a)(1)(Emphasis added). 

124. Despite this clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute 

Improving Teacher Quality Grants to “local educational agencies,” including 
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PSBA’s members, the Respondents have not been paying the required federal money 

to public school entities, on a timely basis. 

125. Part D of Title II of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, authorizes 

state and local technology grants to states, including Pennsylvania, 20 U.S.C.A. § 

6754(a), and provides, in pertinent part: 

Of the amount provided to a State educational agency (from the 
agency's allotment under section 6761(a)(2) of this title) for a fiscal 
year-- 

(1) the State educational agency may use not more than 5 percent to 
carry out activities under section 6765 of this title; and 
(2) the State educational agency shall distribute the remainder as 
follows: 

(A) From 50 percent of the remainder, the State educational 

agency shall award subgrants by allocating to each eligible 

local educational agency that has submitted an application to the 
State educational agency under section 6764 of this title, for the 
activities described in section 6766 of this title, an amount that 
bears the same relationship to 50 percent of the remainder for 
such year as the amount received under part A of subchapter I of 
this chapter for such year by such local educational agency bears 
to the amount received under such part for such year by all local 
educational agencies within the State. 
(B) From 50 percent of the remainder and subject to subsection 
(b) of this section, the State educational agency shall award 
subgrants, through a State-determined competitive process, to 

eligible local entities that have submitted applications to the 
State educational agency under section 6764 of this title, for the 
activities described in section 6766 of this title. 
 

20 U.S.C.A. § 6762(a) (Emphasis added). 

126. Despite this clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute state and 

local technology grants to each eligible “local educational agency,” including 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6761&originatingDoc=NE7E4FD00B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)#co_pp_d86d0000be040
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6765&originatingDoc=NE7E4FD00B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6764&originatingDoc=NE7E4FD00B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6766&originatingDoc=NE7E4FD00B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6764&originatingDoc=NE7E4FD00B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6766&originatingDoc=NE7E4FD00B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
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PSBA’s members, the Respondents have not been paying the required federal money 

to public school entities on a timely basis. 

127. Under Title III of the ESEA, as amended by the NCLB, English 

Language Acquisition State Grants paid to states, including Pennsylvania, are to be 

paid as follows: 

The Secretary may make a grant under subsection (a) of this section 
only if the State educational agency involved agrees to expend at least 
95 percent of the State educational agency's allotment under subsection 
(c) of this section for a fiscal year-- 

(A) to award subgrants, from allocations under section 6824 of this 
title, to eligible entities to carry out the activities described insection 
6825 of this title (other than subsection (e)); and 
(B) to award subgrants under section 6824(d)(1) of this title to 

eligible entities that are described in that section to carry out the 
activities described in section 6825(e) of this title. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 6821(b)(1) (emphasis added).  “Eligible entity” is defined, in part, as 

one or more local educational agencies.  20 U.S.C.A. § 6871.   

128. Despite the clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute English 

Language Acquisition State Grants to local educational agencies, including PSBA’s 

members, the Respondents have not been paying the required federal money to 

public school entities on a timely basis. 

129. Under Subtitle B of Title VII of the McKinney-Vento Homeless 

Assistance Act of 1987, grants for the education of homeless children and youth paid 

to states, including Pennsylvania, are to be paid as follows: 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6824&originatingDoc=NF30C5D90B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6825&originatingDoc=NF30C5D90B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6825&originatingDoc=NF30C5D90B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6824&originatingDoc=NF30C5D90B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)#co_pp_e07e0000a9f57
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS6825&originatingDoc=NF30C5D90B57311D8A022CFD724241E9E&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
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The State educational agency shall, in accordance with section 
11432(e) of this title, and from amounts made available to such agency 
under section 11435 of this title, make subgrants to local educational 

agencies for the purpose of facilitating the enrollment, attendance, and 
success in school of homeless children and youths. 
 

42 U.S.C.A. § 11433(a)(1) (Emphasis added). 

130. Despite the clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute grants for 

the education of homeless children and youths to “local educational agencies,” 

including PSBA’s members, the Respondents have not been paying the required 

federal money to public school entities on a timely basis. 

131. Under section 619 of Part B of the IDEA, preschool grants paid to 

states, including Pennsylvania, are to be paid as follows: 

(1) Subgrants required 
Each State that receives a grant under this section for any fiscal year 
shall distribute all of the grant funds that the State does not reserve 
under subsection (d) to local educational agencies in the State that have 
established their eligibility under section 1413 of this title, as follows: 

(A) Base payments 
The State shall first award each local educational agency described 
in paragraph (1) the amount that agency would have received under 
this section for fiscal year 1997 if the State had distributed 75 
percent of its grant for that year under section 1419(c)(3) of this title, 
as such section was then in effect. 
(B) Allocation of remaining funds 
After making allocations under subparagraph (A), the State shall-- 

(i) allocate 85 percent of any remaining funds to those local 
educational agencies on the basis of the relative numbers of 
children enrolled in public and private elementary schools and 
secondary schools within the local educational agency's 
jurisdiction; and 
(ii) allocate 15 percent of those remaining funds to those local 
educational agencies in accordance with their relative numbers 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS11432&originatingDoc=NE993CC70AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS11432&originatingDoc=NE993CC70AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS11435&originatingDoc=NE993CC70AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Document)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=20USCAS1413&originatingDoc=N667174B0E1D711D99EA9FCF9A0C7E764&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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of children living in poverty, as determined by the State 
educational agency. 

 
20 U.S.C.A. § 1419(g)(Emphasis added). 

132. Despite the clear mandate that the Commonwealth distribute preschool 

grants to local educational agencies, including PSBA’s members, the Respondents 

were not and, in the future, in the absence of a full budget, may not be paying the 

required federal money to school districts on a timely basis. 

133. Despite the clear requirements of federal law that many types of federal 

funding be used to supplement and not supplant state funding, all as detailed earlier 

in this Petition for Review, it is believed and therefore averred: 

a. That the withholding of federal funds through December, 2015, 

was in violation of the federal mandates as to how the money is to be used and 

distributed; 

b. That the withholding is in violation of the federal pre-emption 

requirements; 

c. That the failure to distributed all state funds under the School 

Code on a timely basis will be in violation of the maintenance of effort requirements 

of federal law as described previously herein. 

WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that: 

a. The Court issue a declaratory judgment that Article III, Section 24 of the 

Constitution does not prohibit the Commonwealth from paying state and 
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federal funds to public school entities, including members of the PSBA, 

during a budget impasse; 

b. The Court issue an injunction upon the Respondents Secretary of Education 

and Treasurer to take such action as is required to ensure that public school 

entities are paid all state and federal funds as required under the School Code, 

Fiscal Code and applicable federal statutes and regulations in a timely manner 

in accordance with schedules established by law; 

c. The Court impose a constructive trust upon the funds being held by the 

Commonwealth that should have been paid to school districts and upon the 

investment income earned by the Commonwealth with said funds. 

d. The Court issue a judgment in mandamus upon the Respondents Secretary of 

Education and Treasurer to take such action as is required to ensure that public 

school entities are paid all state and federal funds required under the School 

Code and applicable federal legislation; in particular all federal funds 

allocated to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for the support of elementary 

and secondary education and an amount of state support for local elementary 

and secondary elementary programs that is at least equal to that provided in 

the 2015-2016 fiscal year; 

e. The Court award costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to the Petitioner 

in accordance with 42 U.S.C.A. §1988; 
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f. The Court award damages to school districts to compensate them for all 

interest and transactional costs and expenses incurred as a result of the 

Respondents’ failure to pay state and federal funds during the budget impasse;  

g. The Court award damages for the loss of investment income and the expenses 

and interest paid for borrowing made necessary by the Respondents’ acts and 

omissions in accordance with section 8303 of the Judicial Code, which 

provides: “A person who is adjudged in an action in the nature of mandamus 

to have failed or refused without lawful justification to perform a duty 

required by law shall be liable in damages to the person aggrieved by such 

failure or refusal.”42 Pa.C.S.A. §8303; and 

h. The Court grant such other relief as may be just under the circumstances. 

Count III—Violation of Article III, §14 of the Constitution of the 
Commonwealth 

 
134. All prior paragraphs hereof are incorporated herein by this reference as 

if fully set forth herein. 

135. Article III, Section14, of the Pennsylvania Constitution (“the 

Constitution”) provides that: “The General Assembly shall provide for the 

maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient system of public education to 

serve the needs of the Commonwealth.”  PA CONST Art. 3, § 14. 
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136. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court, interpreting the requirements 

encompassed within Article III, Section 14 of the Constitution said: “As long as the 

legislative scheme for financing public education 'has a reasonable relation’ to 

‘(providing) for the maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient system of 

public schools,’ Teachers Tenure Act Cases at 224, 197 A. at 352, the General 

Assembly has fulfilled its constitutional duty to the public school students of 

Philadelphia.”   Danson v. Casey, 484 Pa. 415, 427, 399 A.2d 360, 367 (1979). 

137. It is believed and therefore averred that the lack of a Commonwealth 

budget to fund public school entities, including the members of PSBA, by the 

Respondents Senate and House, coupled with the lack of funding during the budget 

impasse, is and has been in violation of Article III, Section 14 of the Constitution. 

138. It is believed and therefore averred that the prolonged failure of the 

General Assembly to pass a final budget for public education that will be signed into 

law by the Governor is a violation of Article III, Section 14 of the Constitution. 

139. It is believed and therefore averred to the Governor’s prolonged 

objections to funding for public education as proposed by the General Assembly, 

coupled with the prolonged withholding of state and federal funds from school 

districts, all as detailed in Counts I and II hereof, causes a violation of the Article 

III, Section 14 of the Constitution. 
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140. It is believed and therefore averred that the acts and omissions of the 

Respondents Secretary of Education and/or Treasurer, by failing or refusing to fund 

public school entities, including the members of PSBA, are in violation of Article 

III, Section 14 of the Constitution. 

WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that: 

a. The Court issue a declaratory judgment that Article III, Section 24 of the 

Constitution does not prohibit the Commonwealth from paying state and 

federal funds to public school entities, including members of the PSBA, 

during a budget impasse; 

b. The Court issue an injunction upon the Respondents Secretary of Education 

and Treasurer to take such action as is required to ensure that public school 

entities are paid all state and federal funds as required under the School Code, 

Fiscal Code and applicable federal statutes and regulations in a timely manner 

in accordance with schedules established by law; 

c. The Court impose a constructive trust upon the funds being held by the 

Commonwealth that should have been paid to school districts and upon the 

investment income earned by the Commonwealth with said funds; 

d. The Court issue a judgment in mandamus upon the Respondents Secretary of 

Education and Treasurer to take such action as is required to ensure that public 
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